Analysis of Research Teaching of Science July 1956-July 1957

ELLSWORTH S. OBOURN
and
CHARLES L. KOELSCHE
Specialists for Science

Builetin 1969, No. 2

U.S. DEPARTMENT
OF HEALTH, EDUCATION,
AND WELFARE

ARTEUR S. FLEMMING, Secretary

Office of Education

LAWRENCE G. DERTHICK, Commissioner



UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON: MSS9

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office
Washington 25, D.C. - Price 25 cents



Contents

	_
FOREWORD AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	Fag
INTRODUCTION	
SECTION I. AN EXAMINATION OF THE RESEARCH	
THE RESEARCH	
Research on the Elementary Level	*
Studies Related to the Curriculum	
Observation number to Lourning.	
omittee to Teacher Education	
nesearch on the Secondary Level	
Success resided to Science Teachers	
Studies Related to the Science Curriculum	
Studies Related to Teaching Procedures	I
Studies Related to Measurement and Evaluation of Achievement.	1:
Studies Related to Achievement in Science.	1:
Miscellaneous Studies	17
Surveys	2)
Research on the College Level.	23
Studies Related to the Curriculum	23
Studies Related to Methods and Resources.	24
Studies Related to Teacher Education.	25
Studies Related to the Status of S. J.	26
Studies Related to the Status of Science Teaching. Studies Related to Texts, Syllabi, and Courses in Science	29
Studies Related to Science Personnel	29
ADDITION AND DESCRIPTION OF PERSONNELS.	30
SECTION II. INTERPRETATIONS AND RECOMMENDA-	τ
TIONS	
Klementary Laval	32
Secondary Level	34
Secondary Lovel	37
College Level	38
General Considerations.	40
Recommendations	41
SECTION III. BIBLIOGRAPHIES	49
Elementary School Level	43
Secondary School Level	43
ollege Level	43
College Level	45



Foreword And Acknowledgments

THIS PUBLICATION CONTINUES the annual series of bulletins begun in 1950 as a cooperative undertaking between the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and the Office of Education. The present bulletin summarizes and interprets the research in science education from July 1956 to July 1957.

The improvement of teaching in science, as in all other subjects, depends to a large degree upon the extent to which the findings of research are translated into action by science consultants and class-room teachers. The purpose of this bulletin is to assemble the research findings in science education in such a form as to be most useful for this and other purposes.

Over the years since 1950 the series of publications resulting from the joint efforts noted above has received favorable comment and wide distribution. The bulletins have become established documents in the research literature of general education as well as of science education.

At no other time in the history of science education in America has there ever been a climate so favorable to the immediate and long-range improvement of the subject as now. Through the efforts of the National Science Foundation and many independent industries and foundations, millions of dollars are being made available annually for upgrading science teachers from all levels. The passage of the National Defense Education Act by the 85th Congress has provided additional millions of dollars over a 4-year period, part of which will be available to State and local school systems for strengthening science instruction.

In this framework the role of research in science education assumes ever-increasing proportions. Without the guidelines which sound research can supply, the millions of dollars now available for improving science instruction will not be able to yield their maximum potential. It is hoped that this publication and others in the series can provide some basic findings to that end.



The Office of Education is grateful to the deans of graduate schools, to the directors of research in State departments of education and local public school systems, and to the many other individuals whose contributions have made this bulletin possible.

The Office is also grateful to the General Chairman and the chairmen and members of the three committees of the National Association

for Research in Science Teaching listed below.

General Chairman

CLARENCE BOECK, University of Minnesota

Committee Members

Elementary.—Lillian Hethershaw Darnell, Chairman; Charles K. Arey, Clyde Brown, William Chamberlain, Willard Jacobson, Jacqueline Buck Mallinson, Lawrence C. McClure, and Hanor Webb.

Secondary.—George T. Davis, Chairman; Hubert F. Evans, Vice Chairman; Stanley B. Brown, Paul De H. Hurd, Greta Oppe, and

Samuel Schenberg.

College.—Edward K. Weaver, Chairman; Mervin E. Oakes, Vice Chairman; Robert A. Bullington, Donald G. Decker, Clark Hubler, John C. Mayfield, Abraham Raskin, George B. Salmons, M. C. Shawver, and Nathan Washton.

E. GLENN FEATHERSTON, Assistant Commissioner, State and Local School Systems. J. DAN HULL, Director, Instruction, Organization, and Services Branch.



ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH IN THE TEACHING OF SCIENCE

ADVICE HE SHIP CHAT HE THOUSE IN RECORD A

Introduction

What research in the teaching of science was completed between July 1956 and July 1957? What findings and conclusions resulted from these studies? What implications do these findings have for the improvement of science teaching in the schools? In what areas was the research during this period concentrated? What important areas appeared to be neglected? What directions are indicated for further research?

To assist in getting answers to these and other questions, the U.S. Office of Education in cooperation with the National Association for Research in Science Teaching continued the annual study which has been carried on since 1950. The association maintains a standing committee to review and summarize the research. Science teaching at the elementary, secondary, and college levels is represented by separate sections on the standing committee.

The committees made a meticulous search of the book, pamphlet, and periodical literature for the period July 1956 to July 1957. The issues of more than 50 magazines which have carried published research in science education were reviewed. Frequent use was also made of other sources such as the Education Index. In addition, the committee members reviewed abstracts of unpublished studies in science education which are obtained annually by the Office of Education. Inquiry blanks for these unpublished studies were mailed to over 900 institutions and individuals who have knowledge of current research work in the field of science education.

From these two sources the master list of research studies was made. The studies reported in this bulletin were selected from this master list by applying a set of criteria (see pp. 33-34) which the National Association for Research in Science Teaching has established for the evaluation of research in science teaching.

The work of the committees was handicapped by the fact that, in both the published and unpublished studies, they were for the most part working with secondary sources, such as abstracts and articles, rather than with original documents. The chairmen of the three committees, the chairman for the National Association, and the chairman for the Office of Education accept full responsibility for any errors of category or interpretation in applying the criteria for selecting the studies.

Some studies were eliminated by this evaluation process, because they failed to meet the criteria. It is entirely possible that these would have met the criteria if the abstracts and published articles had been prepared with that purpose in view.



Section I. An Examination of the Research in Science Teaching

RESEARCH FINDINGS must be translated into effective action by school administrators, science consultants, and classroom teachers if they are to make an impact on the improvement of instruction. The research reported in this section has been classified first into three categories; namely, elementary level, secondary level, and college level. Within each of these categories there is a further breakdown which attempts to cluster the studies around those problems of science teaching to which they contribute.

Each study is identified by author and also by a letter and number in parentheses following the author's name. The letter indicates the particular subsection of section III (Bibliographies) of this bulletin where the study is identified, listed alphabetically by author, and numbered. For example, "Simon (E 8)" refers to item 8 in the subsection for the elementary level. In the same way, "Easter (S 4)" and "Combs (C 9)" refers to items 4 and 9 in subsections for the secondary and college levels, respectively.

Research on the Elementary Level

The studies reviewed by the elementary level committee were taken from the pamphlet and periodical literature of the period July 1956—July 1957, and also from the abstracts of unpublished studies collected by the U.S. Office of Education for the same period. For preliminary analysis, 13 studies were selected from these sources, 1 from the periodical literature and 12 from the abstracts of unpublished studies. This number represents a decrease from the 19 studies reported in the last survey.

Of the 13 studies, 8 met the criteria, see pp. 33-34) and thus qualified as research studies suitable for inclusion in the present bulletin. Three have been classified as curriculum studies, three as learning studies, and two as teacher training.

B19008-59-2

Studies Related to the Curriculum

Cuno (E 1) attempted to determine from such sources as courses of study, teachers' manuals, and textbooks in elementary science for children, what specific content materials in science to teach children in the kindergarten and primary grades (1-3).

The major problem of this study was to select the appropriate subject matter and from this to prepare learning experiences for the grades involved. Selected courses of study, elementary science textbooks, and teachers' manuals were analyzed. From the analysis the learning experiences for the children were built.

The important findings from this study were (1) that more background material on specific science concepts is needed for teachers in the kindergarten and primary grades; and (2) that more selective science concepts and related learning experiences are needed for children in these grades.

aprile

Pella and Solberg (E 4) sought to determine "What can one fifth-grade class in Beloit, Wis., learn about atomic energy?" Thirty-three fifth-grade children had instruction in atomic energy from their regular teacher through books, TV programs, a filmstrip, and bulletin board materials; and from a professor of physics from a local college, who gave supplemental talks. The children posed certain questions about atomic energy which they wanted answered and then used the resources noted above to find the answers. The children presented reports, prepared bulletin board materials, held discussions, and constructed an apparatus to demonstrate a chain reaction.

Before starting the study and again at the close of the study, each child wrote a paper on what he knew about atomic energy. The two papers of each child were then compared.

From this study the following conclusions were drawn: (1) Fifth-grade pupils are interested in atomic energy. (2) Boys and girls evidenced equal interest in the study unit. (3) Many differences were noted in the nature of the specific learnings achieved by individual pupils. (4) Fifth-grade pupils can learn many things about atomic energy as a result of systematic study.

donal

Simon (E 8) conducted a study to determine whether or not space travel should be taught as a topic in elementary science. This topic, because of its newness, is not generally included in textbooks for the elementary level.

The study consisted attempts to (1) present as understanding of problems ecientists face as they attempt to conquer space, (2) identify



the natural phenomena they encounter, (3) seek experiments to be used to give children an understanding of the difficulties and obstacles space scientists and space travelers face, and (4) locate sources of information in the Los Angeles area which would be helpful to the teacher in stimulating a class in a study of space travel.

The findings showed: (1) Many of the concepts involved in the study of space travel are actually the same concepts that are studied in the usual elementary science program and only the point of reference needs to be changed. (2) The intense interest currently expressed by elementary school pupils should be utilized by the inclusion of a space-travel unit in the science program of the elementary school.

Studies Related to Learning

The conditions under which children learn most readily and to the greatest degree continue to be a perplexing educational problem. Munter (E 5) conducted a study which was designed (1) to note and describe developmental patterns of responses to questions of a cause-and-effect nature in the field of science, and (2) to determine how children's thinking in this field develops with regard to age, experience, and formal training.

Five questions of a cause-and-effect nature in the field of science were given to 90 pupils in each of grades 3, 4, 5, and 6. The pupil responses to these questions were recorded and then analyzed qualitatively. Later these responses were quantified with scores ranging from 0 to 4, depending on their degree of correctness. These data were organized and statistically analyzed and graphic representations were made.

The findings of the study were that: (1) The correctness of a response tends to increase with the age of children, (2) responses may differ greatly among children of the same age, (3) the correctness of responses made by an individual child varies from question to question, (4) there is no definite pattern in the type of responses among different grade levels, and (5) the depth of response tends to increase with age-and-grade level.

mento

Garvey (E 2) conducted "An Investigation To Determine the Stability of Science Interests of Five-Hundred Grade School Children" in the city of Providence, R.I.

A questionnaire was constructed, using as a basis the eight "Major Science Area Concepts for the Fifth Grade," appearing in Science Experiences in the Elementary School, grades 4, 5, and 6, published by the Department of Research, Providence Public Schools.



The questionnaire was administered twice in a period of 5 days to 500 fifth-grade children in 10 elementary schools (public and parochial) in various geographical and economic areas in Providence. The coefficient of correlation between the responses of the first and second administrations of the questionnaire was calculated to determine whether there was any indication of stability in children's science interests.

The Spearman rank-order coefficient of correlation was calculated to be 0.99. This is indicative of a very high stability between the choices made on the first and second applications of the test instrument. To determine whether the frequencies of response in this questionnaire investigation were significantly different from those which would result if only chance were operating, the chi-square test was applied to the results of the first administration. The results were found to be significant at the 1-percent level. It was therefore considered safe to assume that some factor other than chance was operating. This other factor could be called a preference or an interest factor.

Strate

Johnston's (E 3) study sought to find "the relative achievement of the objectives of elementary school science in a representative sampling of Minnesota schools."

The problems considered in the analytical survey were to determine (1) to what extent the objectives of elementary school science were being achieved in Minnesota schools; (2) what pupil, teacher, and teaching situation factors contributed to the achievement of these objectives; and (3) what are the implications for the education of elementary teachers.

In the conduct of the study, questionnaires were sent to 478 super-intendents of Minnesota elementary schools and to a proportionate stratified random sample of 87 Minnesota fifth-grade teachers. Science activity logs were kept and submitted by a subsample of these teachers. The fifth-grade pupils were pre- and re-tested on science materials. Appropriate statistical treatment involved cluster sample analysis for estimation of population means, analysis of variance and covariance, and the "T" test of the significance of means.

The findings of the study revealed that: (1) There were significant gains between pretest and retest means on the science test in 58 of the 87 fifth-grade classes; (2) the difference between mean gains of 3 IQ groups (over 120, 95–115, below 90) on the pretest-retest, was not significant; (3) the number of years of teaching experience was the only teacher or teaching situation factor which showed a statistically significant relationship on the science pretest-retest (0.05 level).



The fellowing less-than-optimum conditions in fifth-grade science teaching were revealed by the survey: (1) The tendency to emphasize biological science at the expense of physical science; (2) the amphasis on textbook reading and discussion as a teaching method and the limited use of experimental and laboratory activities, directed observation, and research reading; and (3) the fact that pupils with high IQ's did not gain significantly more on the science tests than did pupils with lower IQ's.

Studies Related to Teacher Education

There are many persistent and recurring questions related to the education of teachers for elementary science. Some of these are the following: (1) What difficulties do elementary teachers encounter that prevent the elementary science curriculum from functioning as well as it should! (2) Are science courses in the teacher education departments of our colleges inadequate in that the teacher's training does not carry over and function in the classroom! (3) Is there a lack of interest! (4) Is there a lack of direction on the part of public school administrators!

مهرياف

A study was conducted by Piltz (E 6) in this area. The purpose of the investigation was to determine what factors, in the opinion of classroom teachers, handicap science teaching in the elementary school, and what relationships, if any, exist between the aspirations of teachers and the difficulties they think they face.

A questionnaire was submitted to a random sample of elementary school teachers in an attempt to identify recognized difficulties encountered in science teaching. The reliability and validity of the questionnaire and the conclusions drawn from its use were tested by a variety of appropriate statistical techniques.

Conclusions drawn from the answers to the questionnaire were checked through personal interviews with a sample of teachers and through classroom observations and discussions. Among the major findings were the teachers' beliefs that—

- 1. They were handicapped by a lack of physical facilities such as work and storage space, equipment, and utilities.
- 2. They were incompetent in such teaching techniques as selecting and interpreting content and developing attitudes in children. (Specifically, 75 percent of the teachers had difficulty in helping children discover facts for themselves.)
- 3. They made too frequent use of textbook reading as the primary method of instruction.



- 4. Those teachers with higher aspiration levels tended to teach more addice but experienced the same difficulties as other teachers.
- 5. Their difficulties could be overcome through a better understanding of science and how to teach it.

springer

Richardson (E 7) conducted a study concerned with the need for inservice consultation assistance in upgrading the science contributions to the objectives of elementary education.

The purpose was to assess the awareness of county superintendents of schools to the need for consultation services at the local school district level for upgrading the contribution of science activities to elementary school objectives.

The procedure was to ask each of 21 county superintendents the following questions: (1) Do your county schools need more contributions of science activities in the elementary school curriculum? (2) Do you feel the need for the availability of a list of science specialists who would be willing to help at the local school district level in upgrading the science activities in the elementary school?

The findings were: (1) Nineteen of the 21 superintendents answered "yes" to the first question; (2) 18 answered "yes" to the second question.

Research on the Secondary Level

The Secondary Committee included in this bulletin a total of 25 studies. Since seven of these are largely of a survey nature, they are not analyzed in this bulletin; they are, however, listed together as a group under Surveys. (See p. 23.) These surveys deal with various aspects of science instruction, including science offerings, enrollments, student preferences, and teacher preparation.

Of the 18 studies analyzed here, 3 are related to science teachers, 8 to curriculum, 4 to teaching procedures, 2 to measurement and evaluation, and 4 to achievement in science. Two are classified as miscellaneous.

Studies Related to Science Teachers

DeLoach and Boysworth (S 3) reported a study on the turnover of chemistry teachers in 52 Alabama high schools for the period 1942–53. All of the schools offered chemistry each year during those 12 years. Data were obtained from correspondence with schools and from records of the State department of education. Once obtained,



the data were summarized in five tables. Some of the findings were:

(1) Whereas 16 teachers taught chemistry for at least 10 consecutive years in the same school, 177 teachers taught it for fewer than 2 consecutive years. (2) One hundred teachers, nearly half the total (218), taught chemistry for only 1 year during the 12-year period.

(3) Of the 47 schools having just 1 chemistry teacher on the staff each year, only 7 schools had no turnover during the period; one school had 8 different chemistry teachers in 12 years.

whose

Teachers whose field of college specialization was not science but who nevertheless were teaching science in the secondary schools of Massachusetts during the 1954-55 school year were the subject of an analytical study by Victor (S 17). His purpose was to gain information about such teachers as persons and as guides to learning science. Accordingly, by means of questionnaires and interviews, he gathered taxonomic information on "converted" science teachers. He also obtained [gained] information, again by questionnaires, from their principals, and, for control purposes, from qualified science teachers throughout the state.

A total of 52 "converted" science teachers in 44 schools was studied. Questionnaires returned by their principals yielded information on 46 of them. The control group of qualified science teachers numbered 54. Statistical treatment of the responses in the questionnaires included the use of the T-test, the chi-square test, and the coefficient of correlation. Some of the findings are as follows:

- Ten percent of the "converted" teachers had taken no courses in science, and 25 percent had taken just one or two semesters of any science. Since becoming "converted" science teachers, they had made little or no effort to study further in science.
- 2. Most of the "converted" science teachers were teaching science part-time, and, were usually assigned to teach general science or biology. Their college majors generally had been social studies and physical education.
- 3. The "converted" science teachers did not use varied and effective instructional practices as often as the qualified science teachers. They also received less inservice training and had a lower degree of job satisfaction toward teaching science.
- 4. There was no difference in the extent to which both groups ("converted" and qualified) were aware of and taught for the varied objectives of science education when first beginning to teach science. Usually the "converted" science teachers were given little advance notice of their nasignments to teach science.
- 5. The "converted" science teachers ranked methods of teaching science teachers in importance of help needed, while the qualified science teachers are considered help in planning and organising class work most important.

Deplate the

The "converted" science teachers ranked understanding science content low in importance.

- 6. The "converted" science teachers who received much inservice training used varied and effective instructional practices more often than those who received little inservice training.
- 7. The results of this study indicate that the "converted" science teachers need specific help and supervision in broadening their science backgrounds and their knowledges of techniques and methods of teaching science, in developing their abilities and skills in handling equipment and in expanding their concepts regarding the objectives of science education.



Problems and proposals connected with the supply of science teachers in New York City were investigated by Schenberg (S 11). Information was obtained from a questionnaire sent to 54 academic and 31 vocational high schools on questions related to unqualified teachers of science classes, future demand for teachers, substitute teachers lacking professional study, housewives who qualify as science teachers, inducement for substitute science teachers, and the identity of each married woman who had quit the profession since 1940.

The major conclusion of this study is that New York City'high schools are facing a crisis in science education today. Fourteen suggestions for remedial action are listed.

Studies Related to the Science Curriculum

Blanc (S 2) made an analysis of high school biology textbooks "in order to determine the topics and areas receiving major emphasis by authors and publishers of biology textbooks for the high school level." His survey included 10 current textbooks in the field, selected at random, which carried a revision date of 1951 or later. The investigator found that, according to the 10 textbook authors, the most important areas in the field of biology are (1) conservation of natural resources, (2) study of the human body, (3) study of flowering plants, and (4) genetics and eugenics.

The individual topics which the textbook authors emphasized most were (1) structure and function of leaves, (2) foods and nutrition, (3) process of digestion, (4) principles of heredity, (5) physical factors of the environment, (6) inheritance in man, (7) evidence of change in evolution, (8) conservation of forests, (9) sense organs and sensation, (10) soil and water conservation, and (11) conservation of wildlife.



The mathematical processes needed in learning high school chemistry and physics were investigated by Lockwood (S 7). The purpose was



to evaluate the "generally accepted belief that high school students often avoid chemistry and physics because of the level of difficulty of the mathematics content in these courses."

The author examined seven chemistry texts and eight physics texts intended for the secondary level in order to determine the mathematical processes needed for an understanding of all the texts and for the successful completion of all the end-of-chapter problems and activities. A tally was then made of these processes. All the textbooks reviewed had copyright dates between 1950 and 1956. He concluded that—

- If the primary function of the first course in algebra is preparation for chemistry and physics, then emphasis should be placed on those mathematical processes used most frequently in these courses.
- Students successfully completing the first course in algebra have no valid reason for avoiding chemistry and physics because of the level of difficulty of mathematical content of these courses.
- 8. The quantitative approach to chemistry and physics probably should be retained, since deletion of mathematics from these courses would deprive the student of valuable experience in the application of mathematics to problems in chemistry and physics.
- The assumption underlying the belief that some students avoid chemistry and physics because of the high level of mathematics content of these courses is not valid.

springer

Duplication in learning some basic principles of physics was investigated by Wise (S. 18). The study was undertaken to determine whether high school pupils who completed a course in ninth-grade general science could definitely increase their understanding of some basic principles of science by completing either a course in high school physics or a survey course in science at the junior college level. Also studied for possible duplication was the high school physics-junior college science sequence.

The area of heat was used as a sample topic in the study. After three preliminary tests were constructed and administered, a single, final test was constructed and administered to a broad sampling of students in high school general science and physics and in junior college physical sciences. An intelligence test was also given to all these students. Comparisons of the mean scores of classes were based on an analysis of variance between groups of students who had completed the various combinations of coursework in science. An analysis of covariance with the intelligence factor held constant was the basis for similar comparisons.

Wise's conclusions were the following:

L Pupils who have completed a course in general science at the ninth-gradelevel may usually expect that their understandings of basic principles 519005—59——5



of physics will be increased as the result of the completion of a course in high school physics. Such an increase in understanding may not, however be expected to accompany the completion of a physical science survey course taken at the junior college level.

- 2. Pupils who have both general ocience and physics in high school may not expect that the completion of a survey course in the physical sciences at the junior college level will add materially to their understandings of the basic principles of physics.
- 3. Courses offering a survey of the physical sciences at the junior college level are no more effective than are courses in general science offered in the junior high school in developing qualitative understandings of the basic principles of physics. It seems reasonable to assume that a similar situation may exist with principles from other areas of science. It follows that in planning a program of general education, the major effort to develop qualitative understandings of important principles of science need not be postponed until the college years.

Studies Related to Teaching Procedures

In an experimental study, Scott (S 12) compared two methods of teaching 10th grade general science. Specifically, he undertook to learn how the inductive method of teaching compares with the text-book method in developing pupil abilities to apply science principles. Students in the experimental group were matched with their counterparts in a control group on the basis of tests for mental maturity, reading ability, and knowledge in science. As students in the control group were being taught science by conventional methods, those in the experimental group were induced to study and discover relations between data in order to arrive at their own generalizations. At the end of the course, a test on scientific principles was administered to all. Comparisons were made between the initial and final tests given to both groups.

Scott's major findings were the following:

- Both groups had a higher mean score on the science test at the end
 of the course than at the beginning.
- In May (at the end) the experimental group made higher scores than did the control group.
- According to the average scores, the gain of the experimental group over that of the control group was very significant.
- 4. A high correlation existed between mental age and scores.
- 5. According to the average scores, (a) boys in the experimental group outgained girls in that group; (b) girls in the control group outgained boys in that group.
- The percentage of members of the experimental group who correctly answered those questions which required the application of principles



was higher than the percentage of members of the control group who so answered.

- In 10th-grade general science, students taught by the inductive method made more progress than students taught by the textbook method,
- 8. Both methods of teaching 10th-grade general science are conducive to student growth.

JANA .

Richter (S 9) analyzed drawing and learning in biology. The investigator sought information on two basic questions: (1) What is the relationship between the ways in which pupils see objective materials (charts) used in biology classes and the ways in which they learn the related subject matter? (2) What is the relationship between certain drawing characteristics and the possible personality components of the pupils? A large number of drawings of biological charts were secured from biology classes. Scores on verbal and nonverbal intelligence tests and on subject matter tests were also secured. After judges had rated the drawings for accuracy, an average accuracy score was calculated for each pupil. The author also rated all the drawings for the presence or absence of certain characteristics frequently considered as indicating aspects of personality. All data were finally analyzed by intercorrelational techniques.

Following are the findings of Richter's study:

- There is some correlation between the average accuracy score and the scores from achievement and intelligence tests.
- 2. A few specific structural characteristics appear consistently in the drawings and are reliably correlated with measures of learning, drawing accuracy, and intelligence; they may give information about possible personality components.
- The level of reliability seems to be affected by either the drawing motif
 itself, by something in the drawing situation, or by emotional factors in
 the pupils.
- For some characteristics, variability is more highly correlated with good performance than is consistency.
- A few psychological characteristics are significantly correlated with learning even though there is no logical reason for a correlation.
- The findings suggest that visual, nonverbal aspects of intelligence may be important in learning from visual aids of all kinds.
- 7. There is some indication that the characteristics that predispose toward success in pretests differ from those that function in posttests. The author believes that this finding should be given further study.

aluk

The effects of using biographical sketches in teaching high school chemistry were studied by Easter (S 4). By using an experimental approach to the study, he gained objective information on "whether



or not classtime should be taken from the teaching of chemistry fundamentals to give attention to the activities and scientific achievements of famous chemists." Two comparable groups of students were given instruction in chemistry similar in all respects, except that for the experimental group men and events in chemistry were emphasized by the presentation of biographical sketches.

Evaluated in this study was achievement related to the following six objectives: (1) Fundamentals of chemistry, (2) men and events in chemistry, (3) scientific method, (4) scientific attitude, (5) scientific interest, and (6) science activities and ambitions. For five of the six objectives, the exception being the objective of scientific interest, mean differences between the experimental and control groups were tested by the analysis of covariance technique. The IQ and geometry scores were control variables in the analysis of covariance tests of significance, and stratification was on the basis of sex.

The author contends that "it was demonstrated by this study that an increased emphasis upon biographical sketches results in an increase of (1) achievements in knowledge of fundamentals of chemistry, and (2) achievement in knowledge of men and events in chemistry." This study did not demonstrate that an increased emphasis upon biographical sketches results in an increase in (1) achievement in scientific method, (2) scientific attitude, (3) scientific interest, or (4) science activities and ambitions.

علاسك

Simerdinger (S 14) gathered experimental evidence on the ability of students to identify and evaluate assumptions in science. Her purpose was twofold: "(1) To determine the effectiveness of two teaching techniques upon growth in the ability of eighth-grade pupils to identify and evaluate science assumptions, and (2) to compare growth in this ability with growth in the ability to recognize non-science assumptions and with growth in general problem-solving ability."

Nine classes were divided into three groups and for 13 weeks were taught general science by a problem-solving method. The method for each group differed: In group I teacher-planned experimental exercises and assumptions were stressed; in group II, pupil-planned exercises were used and assumptions were stressed; in group III (control), teacher-planned exercises were utilized, with no emphasis on assumptions. Pre- and end-tests in subject matter were given to each group in order to measure general problem-solving ability, the ability to identify science assumptions, and the ability to evaluate them. The gains were treated statistically through analysis of variance, using levels of IQ and sex as predictors and the teaching method



as the variable. This analysis resulted in a three-by-three-by-two factorial design.

Simendinger's conclusions follow below:

- Unless emphasis is placed upon science assumptions, combined with pupilplanued experimental exercises, the pupils will not be aware of these assumptions,
- As a result of stress on science assumptions, combined with either teacher- or pupil-planned experimental exercises, students will improve in their ability to recognise nonscience assumptions and in general problem-solving ability.
- 3. A method using teacher-planned experimental exercises, stressing their assumptions, is superior to a method which also uses teacher-planned experimental exercises without the emphasis on assumptions, with regard to acquisition of subject matter.
- 4. No one sex or level of IQ appears generally superior to any other in any of the abilities studied.
- 5. A high correlation exists between the initial ability to identify science assumptions and the initial ability to evaluate them, while a marked relationship is evidenced between the developments of these abilities.

From her findings the author also noted certain implications:

- It is possible to bring about significant growth in problem-solving ability in a normal teaching situation, without loss of subject matter.
- Of the techniques employed, the teaching technique using most pupil
 participation and stressing science assumptions, yields the greatest
 growth in the ability to identify and evaluate science assumptions.
- The abilities involved in problem solving, like the ability to identify and evaluate science assumptions, are distinct abilities.
- The ability to identify science assumptions is either very closely related to the ability to evaluate them, or is identical with it.
- Training in science assumptions does not appear to transfer automatically to nonscience assumptions.

Studies Related to Measurement and Evaluation of Achievement

By employing film slides in color, Goehring (S 5) measured student abilities to solve physics problems. He set out to "construct and determine the reliability and validity of a film slide test designed to measure the ability of high school pupils to apply a scientific method of thinking to the solution of practical problems in the area of mechanics in high school physics." A preliminary test was prepared which originally included 107 film slides and 107 written items (multiple-choice type) intended to measure problem-solving ability.



After a panel of judges had rated each question and picture, 27 items were selected for inclusion in the test. A synchronized tape recording was then made to present orally the problem situations pictured in the projected slides and described in the questions related to them.

A second written test (minus pictures) of 26 items was prepared in order to determine the understanding of examinees of the principles of mechanics involved in the picture test. Both instruments were further refined after being administered to 412 students. An item analysis of the picture test included computation of item discrimination indices as well as item difficulty indices. The final film-slide test contained 24 items; the final principles of mechanics test, 20 items. After further testing, a reliability coefficient for the film-slide test was computed by analysis of variance.

Goehring found that it is feasible to measure through the media of projected film slides and related written items the ability to apply a scientific method of thinking in the area of mechanics in high school physics. Further, the tests used in this study appear to be sufficiently reliable and valid for classroom use.

مهرمهن

Mallinson (S 8) reported an analytical study of the difficulty of different types of items included in certain New York Regents Examinations. Her purpose was to identify the types of questions which students avoided or found difficult in science examinations. The questions and answers selected for study were those included in part II (essay only) of the Regents Examination for biology, chemistry, earth science, and physics given in January and June, 1949 and 1950. Each item was studied to determine its type (recall, application, etc.), popularity, and relative difficulty. The data used in this analysis were part of a larger investigation involving the review of 31,317 examination papers.

The author's findings follow:

- 1. In general, this analysis seems to indicate that in all subject matter areas, the items giving the most difficulty were those that require an application of facts and principles—that call for an understanding of the applications of science in everyday life. In all four areas this type of item proved both difficult and unpopular.
- 2 The earth science and physics examination had fewer unpopular and difficult items than the biology and chemistry examinations. This may be due, at least in part, to the fact that fewer students elect biology and chemistry and those who do elect them are in general the more able ones.
- 3. It would appear that science teachers might well spend more time trying to help students understand the importance of scientific facts and principles in our daily lives, and to develop in them the ability to extend and



apply the knowledge they derive from their study of science. In short, teachers must help students understand relationships, rather than cause them to become mere walking encyclopedias of scientific facts.

Studies Related to Achievement in Science

Smeltz (S 15) conducted a retention study in chemistry. By using a sample population of students in five public high schools, he set out to "determine to what extent the learnings of high school chemistry acquired by pupils during the 11th year of high school were retained I year following the completion of the course."

Information was obtained through the use of standardized chemistry tests, a test for mental maturity, and a questionnaire. The chemistry tests were administered to 180 pupils of average intelligence, the first one before they took the chemistry course, the second when they had completed two semesters of study, and the third a year later. Achievement was measured by the differences in the raw scores of the first two tests; retention, by the differences in the raw scores in the first and third tests. Coefficients of correlation were obtained between achievement and retention, achievement and intelligence, and intelligence and retention.

The author's conclusions were these:

- Pupils who had chemistry during the 11th grade retained approximately 68 percent of the course information 1 year following completion of the course.
- The amount of chemistry retained was more closely related to achievement than to intelligence; intelligence was also related to achievement.
- 3. College-bound pupils retained more chemistry than terminal students.
- Pupils enrolled in physics retained more chemistry than pupils not enrolled in physics.
- 5. Sex was not a factor in the amount of chemistry retained.
- There was no significant difference in the types of learnings in chemistry retained.

aprile

Shepler (S 13) completed an analytical study dealing with achievement in secondary school science as related to pupils' relative preference for the field. Two complementary hypotheses were tested: (1) "On the same levels of mental ability, student accomplishment in science study increases with increase in degree of subject preference. (2) On the same levels of subject preference, student accomplishment in science increases with increase in degree of mental ability."

A total of 827 12th-grade students were given the Terman-McNemar Test of Mental Ability, the science subtest of the Harry-Durost Essen-



tial High School Content Bettery, and a specially constructed instrument requiring them to make preferential choices of activities in the following 6 scholastic fields: science, languages, mathematics, social studies, fine arts, and the manipulative arts. The scores on these three measures were transformed into standard scores with common mean and variance. The data were analyzed in various ways, as were the scores of a special population subsample of 250 cases. The subsample members were chosen so that, in aggregate, they would form a normal distribution as to mental ability, but with chance variation as to years of science study and preference for science.

The following inferences and conclusions were made:

- 1. Both of the hypotheses stated above are supported in satisfactory degree.
- As a predictor of science accomplishment in groups with heterogeneous mental ability, level of mental ability is the best indicator of level of potential accomplishment.
- In groups homogeneous as to mental ability, level of preference for science study is the best predictor of an individual's potential accomplishment in science study for his level of mental ability.
- 4. Preference for science study was found to be somewhat higher with higher levels of mental ability, and higher for boys than for girls. Also, there is close correspondence between number of years of science study and level of preference for this subject.

Certain data reported in a former investigation on the use of sound motion pictures in high school biology were given further study by Smith and Anderson (S 16). In the former study the investigators demonstrated that there were significant differences in achievement of different ability groups as a result of the use of educational films. It was demonstrated that there was a significant difference in achievement in the same direction for a group of high ability students and a group of low ability students, and that no differences were observed in a group from the middle ranges of intelligence. Since this result appeared to be an anomaly, it served as a stimulus and point of departure for the present study.

The authors hypothesized that two kinds of learnings were actually involved in the performance of the students investigated: that the superiority of the top group of students over their control group was achieved as a result of exceptional performance with principal-type items (on the Nelson Biology Test, Forms AM and BM); whereas, the superiority of the low group over their control resulted from superior performance with fact-type items.

Accordingly, items in the standardized test were classified, where possible, as fact-type or principle-type. The examination papers for



^{*} Econoth B. Anderson, Seei S. Montgomery, Herbert A. Smith, and Dorothy S. Anderson. Toward a More Effective Use of Sound Motton Pictures in High School Biology, Science Bellewick, 40:40-50, Vehroury 1886.

both the high group and the low group were then rescored in order to obtain a fact score and a principle score. Already available were the intelligence test scores for each of the students in the two groups. The scores obtained were processed by using the analysis of variance and covariance techniques. Pretest scores and intelligence were used as control variables.

The results of the analysis yielded statistically significant differences in favor of the experimental methods of teaching biology principles. These differences were found in both the high and low groups. The differences among the instructional methods (as evidenced by the fact subscores) were not, however, significant for either group. The authors concluded that "the analysis offers no support to the hypothesis that two different kinds of learning were involved."

STORE

In another study, Anderson, Page, and Smith (S 1) studied "the lower and upper ends of the spectrum of academic achievement and intelligence among high school seniors for the purpose of gaining a better understanding of variability existing in groups frequently regarded as homogeneous." The specific purposes, all related to science achievement, were (1) to determine the percentages of seniors (both boys and girls) designated as exceptional in science achievement; (2) to determine the relative contribution of schools of varying size to the exceptional groups in science achievement; (3) to ascertain the degree of relationship existing between science achievement and achievement or ability in four other areas (mathematics, social studies, English, and intelligence) for the groups designated as exceptional in achievement or ability as measured by tests in those areas; (4) to describe the variability in achievement or ability as measured by the tests in the four other areas of those seniors designated as exceptional in science achievement.

The authors used data on the academic achievement and intelligence of 1,445 Kansas high school seniors who had taken the Essential High School Content Bestery and the Terman-MoNemar Test of Mental Ability, Form C. A senior was designated as exceptional if his score on a particular test (science, mathematics, social studies, English, or intelligence) placed him in the upper or lower 10 percent of the frequency distribution for that test. By segregating the upper and lower 10 percents on each of the 5 tests, the authors obtained 10 exceptional groups of seniors. Five test scores, sex, and size of school were tabulated for each of the 145 individuals in each of the 10-percent groups.

519006 - 59 ---

Following is a summary of the findings which relate primarily to science:

- It is evident that, in spite of almost equal numbers of boys and girls in the original sample of 145 seniors, the upper 10-percent group in science contained a significantly greater percentage of boys than girls: 67.6 percent boys, as against 32.4 percent girls.
- Apparently, size of school was not a factor in science achievement for the exceptional groups.
- 8. The seniors in the upper 10-percent group in science achievement tended to be more consistent as to achievement in the other areas tested than did the lower 10-percent group. The correlations of the scores in the other exceptional groups for mathematics, social studies, and English with the scores in science revealed that the upper groups were more consistent in science achievement than the lower groups. The only exception was in the case of intelligence, where both correlations were significant and positive and not significantly different.
- 4. Perhaps one of the most surprising features of the results was the relatively small overlap between mathematics and science. To some extent this is no doubt a function of the test which tends to emphasize the nonquantitative measures in science. Nonetheless, one might well have expected to find a considerably greater percentage of overlap.
- 5. The distribution of science scores for the lower groups in mathematics, English, social studies, and intelligence overlapped to some extent the distributions of science scores for the upper groups in these areas.
- 6. The upper group in science was more variable than the lower group as to achievement in mathematics and social studies. The reverse was true in the case of intelligence.
- 7. If one considers the average age of seniors at the time they took these tests to be about 17, the lower group in intelligence had deviation IQ's ranging from about 63 to 89, and the upper group, from about 120 to 143. In spite of this, 52.41 percent of the lower group achieved enough in science to place them in the lower-middle 40 percent in science achievement and 2.76 percent achieved enough to place them in the upper-middle 40 percent. Also, 42.76 percent of the upper group were sufficiently low in science to place them in the upper-middle 40 percent in science achievement. Five seniors, or 3.45 percent, placed in the lower middle 40 percent in science achievement and two seniors, or 1.38 percent, placed in the lower 10 percent.

The same comparisons for the other four areas revealed slightly less variation for social studies, but some more variations for mathematics and English. These findings suggest that an acceptable criterion for exceptional performance in science and other academic areas must be sought outside the provinces of intelligence. Apparently there are forces other than intelligence at work leading to exceptional achievement in science and other areas, such as motivation, originality, and creativity.

8. The specific findings of the study point up more clearly than ever the phenomenon of individual differences in science achievement and in other academic areas, as well as the great variability within individuals. In a sense, this study documents to a considerable extent present statements of the kind of education essential in a democracy. The broadly stated purposes of education have emphasized the uniqueness of each



individual and the necessity to provide for the fullest development of his potentialities. This study also gives further evidence that these ideals are soundly conceived.

Miscellaneous Studies

Outdoor laboratories used in teaching natural resource conservation were studied analytically by Hibbs (S 6). Four related problems were investigated: (1) Where are the schools which have had notable success in developing and using outdoor laboratories? (2) What are the procedures which these schools employed in procuring and developing their outdoor study areas? (3) How are the laboratories being used in teaching conservation? (4) What are some guiding principles by which other schools might develop and use outdoor laboratories?

The author acquired detailed information on the four problems by reviewing literature, conferring with school personnel, and making firsthand observations of outdoor laboratories in five States (Michigan, North Carolina, Ohio, West Virginia, and Wisconsin). From the information gained, he formulated the following 10 principles:

- The primary function of the outdoor laboratory is to provide learning opportunities necessary for implementing a sound conservation education program.
- The school superintendent should assume responsibility for the outdoor laboratory and provide effective leadership for its development and use.
- The school district should provide an appropriate land area for development and for use as a laboratory (as a place) to provide conservation learning opportunities.
- A master plan should be prepared to develop and use the inboratory area.
- A school should provide an opportunity for school personnel, pupils, parents, agencies, organizations, and other interested individuals to participate in planning, developing, and using the outdoor laboratory.
- A qualified faculty member should be assigned the responsibility of coordinating the conservation education program, including development and use of the outdoor laboratory.
- Inservice training, relevant to the use of outdoor study areas, should be provided for all school personnel.
- 8. The outdoor laboratory should be used for its intended purposes from kindergarten through high school.
- The principal and other faculty members should cooperate in scheduling classes to provide maximum opportunities for use of outdoor inhoratory facilities.



 Conservation instruction in the outdoor laboratory should be planned to provide maximum opportunities for pupil participation in direct, purposeful experiences.



Rogers (S 10) made a determination of the prevalence of certain important general science misconceptions among 9th- and 10th-grade children. To do this he compiled a list of 74 science misconceptions and had a panel of judges classify each misconception in 1 of 5 ways:

(1) has serious implication for the behavior of the individual; (2) has some implication for the behavior of the individual; and (3) has slight implication for the behavior of the individual. Five inventory forms were then constructed with 60 items each. One-third of the statements in each form were true in order that the students would not discover that they were being tested for misconceptions.

The forms were distributed widely among 9th- and 10th-grade science classes over the Nation, and 2,525 usable answer sheets were obtained. An item analysis was made of each misconception in the five inventory forms used at the 9th-grade level. Reliabilities of the five forms ranged from 0.745 to 0.824.

The following are some of the misconceptions which were believed by at least 50 percent of both boys and girls in the 9th and 10th grades of the sample, and were judged by the jury as having serious or some implication concerning children's behavior:

When tobacco smoke is blown through a handkerchief, the yellow mark produced is due to nicotine.

Gasoline burns in the liquid state.

There is always a calm before a storm.

Cream is heavier than milk.

Water always boils at the same temperature.

Water always freezes when its temperature is reduced to 32° Fahrenheit. Frost is formed usually on the outside of a window.

If you can see many stars in the sky, we will have fair weather.

The sun is the center of the whole universe.

Magnets will pick up many kinds of metal.

Artificial ice is different from natural ice.

A rattlesnake always warns before it strikes.

Those who learn slowly retain more of what they learn than those who learn fast.

Those who threaten to commit suicide seldom do.

A barking dog never bites.

When a dog is fond of a man, it shows that person to be trustworthy.

A drowning person who goes down for the third time is lost.

Women with red hair are quick tempered.



Surveys

The following seven studies are largely of a survey nature and therefore are not elaborated, but rather only listed. They deal with such aspects of science teaching as enrollments, offerings, student preferences, and teacher preparation.

- DELDACH, WILL S. Chemistry and Physics Enrollments in Tennessee High Schools. Science Education, 41: 197-199, April 1957.
- HUPPINGTON, PAUL E. Enrollment Trends, Offerings, and Teacher Certification in Science and Mathematics—Maryland County High Schools.

 Baltimore: Maryland State Department of Education, 1957. 16 p.
- KERGHEVAL, J. W. Some Data on Science Instruction in Iowa High Schools.

 Science Education, 41: 191–197, April 1957.
- McCaix, Wenners M. A Study of the Curricular Offerings, Student Enrollments, Teacher Preparation, and Teaching Loads in Physical Science in the Public Senior High Schools of the State of Washington. (Unpublished master's thesis, University of Washington, 1956.)
- RANDALL, ROURN E. Science Teaching in Negro High Schools in Louisiana.

 Science Education, 41: 65-68, February 1957.
- Science and Mathematics Courses Offered in Certain High Schools of Louisiana. Science Education, 41: 202-208, April 1957.
- SCHENBERG, SAMUEL. A Study of the Science and Mathematics Courses Elected by the 1956 Senior Class, and the Number of Seniors Who Planned to Specialize in Scientific Fields in the Academic High Schools in New York City. New York: Board of Education, 1957. 31 p.
- SHANNON, HENRY A. A Picture of Science Work in 632 White High Schools of North Carolina for 1955-56. Raleigh: North Carolina State Department of Education, 1956. 2 p.

Research on the College Level

This current survey of science education research at the college level covers 28 studies selected from the more than 80 which composed the original group. These 80 studies were obtained from the periodical literature and from the abstracts of unpublished studies collected by the U.S. Office of Education.

Most of the studies examined on the college level were not considered qualified for analysis in the present publication. It should again be pointed out, however, that some of the excluded studies would have met the criteria if the abstracts and published articles had been prepared with the research purposes in mind.

The 28 studies in this section fall into the following classifications: 4 related to curriculum; 4 to methods and resources; 13 to teacher education; 1 to status; 2 to texts, syllabi, and courses; and 4 to science personnel, and a factorise of the following classifications:



Studies Related to the Curriculum

Combs (C 9) studied the effect of certain curriculum patterns on student achievement in biology through comparing scores made by students who participated in a social studies oriented core, a science-mathematics oriented core, and a general science subject matter core, with student achievement in a "limited participation situation" (students without formal education in science). She concluded that:

(1) The less education these students had in general science the higher the correlation between intelligence and achievement in biology; (2) students participating in the social science core scored higher in biology achievement than those who participated in the science-mathematics core; and (3) none of the core patterns appeared to have significant meaning for biology achievement.

STORE

Hilton (C 14) developed a technique for the selection of laboratory experiments in a college physical science course designed for general educational purposes. Six criteria were used for selecting 12 experiments which were then taught for 2 semesters. Using a student-evaluation technique he found: (1) 93 percent of the students considered the study of physical science valuable to nonscience majors; (2) 75 percent felt the laboratory work worth while and helpful in understanding science concepts; (3) 88 percent felt that the laboratory provided experiences in the application of scientific method; (4) in spite of student opinion, no statistically significant difference existed between the performance of those with and those without laboratory experience.



Sosinsky (C 23) used matched groups in "a comparison of an integrated course in general chemistry and qualitative analysis of 1-year duration with separate courses in general chemistry and qualitative analysis in a school of pharmacy." He found that on four of six parts of a general chemistry examination, the two groups were alike in achievement; however, the group taking the standard separate courses was generally superior.

and the

Mendenhall (C 21) studied the growth of ideas leading to presentday concepts of the atom. He illustrates clearly the importance of the study of the history of scientific ideas and their place in the total intellectual history of man. He assembled a comprehensive



bibliography related to the growth of the atomic concept and brought out the need for recognizing that concepts of the atom will undergo further modification and development.

Studies Relaied to Methods and Resources

Bainter (C3) studied "the outcomes of two types of laboratory techniques used in a course in general physics for students planning to be teachers in the elementary grades." She attempted to ascertain the relative effectiveness of the traditional and problem-solving methods of instruction. Using matched pairs of students, she found (1) there was no difference between the two methods in teaching facts or generalizations; (2) the problem-solving method was superior in teaching the application of physics facts, principles, and generalizations is interpreting social and physical phenomena and in developing most aspects of critical thinking (although not the topic of measurement); (3) neither the traditional nor the problem-solving method was superior in teaching the use of apparatus.

aprile

Blackshear (C 4) investigated "the relative effectiveness of two methods of teaching biology." Two groups rotated between a traditional content centered method and a problem-solving or scientific method technique. The data were analyzed, using the analysis of variance and covariance, multiple correlation, and regressions.

The author's findings were the following:

- There was no significant relationship between intelligence and the ability to use the scientific method.
- The control group (subject or centent) was more effective in applying principles.
- No differences were detected in the relative effectiveness of the two methods.
- There were no significant differences between the sexes in their use of the two methods or their ability to use the scientific method.
- 5. For effective teaching, science teachers should use a variety of mothods.

CONTRACT.

Lahti (C18) studied "the efficiency of the physical science laboratory in promoting a general education objective" or more specifically, "does the use of laboratory experiments of a problem-solving nature lead to a greater ability for designing an experiment and interpreting its results!" In making comparisons of laboratory teaching, he found



that the use of problem-solving situations in the laboratory was effective in teaching an understanding of the scientific method; and that out of the four methods used, the inductive-deductive method produced more learning than the other three methods.

STORE

Crooks (C 10) used students in beginning college science courses as respondents. Through them, applying the Flesch scale, he found that they rated all of 20 well-known science textbooks (1) as "dull" on 7 of the categories, and (2) as "fairly difficult" on 2 of the categories. In addition, the author discovered that all 20 textbooks offered serious reading handicaps for the students.

Studies Related to Teacher Education

Bliss (C 5) conducted an opinion survey of college and high school teachers of science in regard to the preparation and certification of high school science teachers. There were 89 respondents to his questionnaire. He found: (1) A slight majority of the respondents agreed that the present 30 semester hours of required college science is sufficient preparation for teachers of general science; (2) a distinct group of the high school teachers regarded the 30 semester hours as inadequate for the preparation of teachers in biology, chemistry, and physics; (3) most of the respondents urged a 23-32 semester-hour requirement in each of the fields of biology, chemistry, and physics.

مهرين

Brown (C 6) studied the "undergraduate professional education of elementary school teachers with special emphasis on the preparation for teaching science in the elementary schools of Mitchell County, Ga." On the basis of the returns to a questionnaire, she recommended (1) a greater amount of study in such science fields as astronomy, entomology, and earth science; (2) more specific preservice and inservice science courses for elementary school teachers; (3) less emphasis on foreign language and history requirements in the college program for elementary school teachers; (4) more emphasis on the necessity for continuous curriculum and course revision; and (5) more emphasis on preteaching or professional laboratory experiences in practical situations.

Bryant (C 7), in an effort to apply the "factors of effectiveness" developed in an earlier study by Warren M. Davis, used teachers who



were considered to be "good teachers" of elementary school science, and discovered that, while these teachers accept the factors, few of their practices measure up to them. She found that her respondents indicated that: (1) Inadequate college preparation was the most pertinent reason for default of practice; and: (2) college science teachers and others responsible for the education of elementary school teachers appeared to use other factors than those prevalent in the literature to make decisions as to what will be most useful in the preparation of teachers of elementary school science.

4

Carlin (C 8) attempted to discover "whether or not courses in chemistry and physics at the high school level contribute to success in beginning college chemistry." He found that both high school physics and chemistry contribute more to success in college chemistry than does either high school physics or high school chemistry when taken alone.

arm.

Fleek (C 11) studied courses in general college chemistry in an attempt to formulate aims for, and ways of improving, physical science courses as taught at the high school level. He concluded that many courses in general college chemistry are inappropriate for preparing prospective secondary school teachers of physical science. He urged that more emphasis be placed on integrated science courses for such teachers.

mary war

Gawley (C 12), in a three-way study, developed criteria for a general methods course in science education for New Jersey secondary school teachers. A questionnaire prepared from course topic listings in college catalogs, was sent to a list of colleges and universities to ascertain actual course offerings. Later, another questionnaire, which included 116 of the same topics as the first, was prepared and sent to New Jersey secondary science teachers for rating on a numerical scale. There were 495 replies. From them the author developed a proposed course in general methods for the New Jersey teachers colleges. The other two members of the research teams, Pregger (C 22) and Sutman (C 26), developed criteria for a special methods course in physical science education, and also criteria for a special methods course in biological science education at the same institutions.



Erugiak (C 17) sought to identify, by means of a questionnaire, "what kind of cooperation with colleges do high school teachers of



physics want?" He found that these teachers want such cooperative activities as joint sponsorship of science fairs, frequent meetings, number information about careers in physics, and provision for special attention to gifted students.

مهرمون

McIntosh (C 20), in one of several evaluations of National Science Foundation academic year programs, found that—

- . 1. A general feeling of anathy and/or antipathy pervaded the students in the institute group from time to time.
- 2. The feeling was increased by the rigorous lectures.
- The original placement of most of the group in a single class in mathematics and biology was especially assailed as arbitrary, considering the diversity of preparatory backgrounds.
- The physics course was held in high regard, but the first-semester chemistry course was berated (although the second-semester one was judged an improvement).
- 5. The engineering course was considered to have missed its objective.
- Many of the group were dubious about the second-semester mathematics course.
- 7. Most of the group approved the avowed aims of the program but felt that the selection methods and other aspects needed improvement. They believed, however, that another year's program would be better.



Speak (C 24) studied by means of a questionnaire "the academic science training of Kansas secondary teachers of biology in relation to their expressed needs." He found that the teachers in class AA schools were better qualified than those in other class groups. He listed what these teachers considered to be the most needed and related courses.



Stollberg (C 25) paid a personal visit to 44 colleges and universities for the purpose of making "some observations concerning the education of science teachers." More specifically, his problem was to secure answers to such questions as: (1) What are effective techniques for recruiting increased numbers of science teachers? (2) What trends exist in terms of education for problem solving? Data and question sheets were sent ahead of the visit.

The 44 institutions were scattered over the entire country. The visits, lasting for 1 or 2 days, were used for interviews with workers in science and science education. From the study, Stollberg formulated a list of pressing problems regarding the recruitment and preparation of science teachers, such as: (1) How can science teachers keep up to date! (2) How can we identify the characteristics of



excellent science teaching! (3) How can the shortage of science teachers be met!

my

Syrocki (C 27) considered the criteria for selecting, developing, and validating experience units in general biology for prospective elementary school teachers. He formulated a list of general biological principles and validated them by using elementary school teachers as judges. He formulated criteria for the selection and development of laboratory experience with biology and validated these by using college teachers as judges. Finally, he developed a rating scale for validation.

Studies Related to the Status of Science Teaching

Adams (C 1) sought to determine some of the basic changes in science teaching anticipated by science teachers. In a rather lengthy survey he placed particular emphasis on techniques of science instruction, on facilities for instruction, on provisions for superior students, and on predictions for changing trends.

Studies Related to Texts, Syllabi, and Courses in Science

Hennings (C 18) prepared a monograph designed to assist the science teacher in the effective consideration of the ecological basis of conservation. He developed a procedure for organizing materials around problem areas and emphasized ecological relationships and teachers' responsibilities regarding these relationships. He also suggested the implications for teaching.

whole

Wallen and Mayor (C 28) collected information concerning "the contribution of colleges to the improvement of the teaching of science and mathematics in high schools." They sent a questionnaire to 809 4-year colleges with enrollments of over 500 each, seeking data on the following questions: (1) Are special subject matter courses offered to teachers only for graduate credit, to help them improve their competence in areas where they do not have the usual prerequisites for graduate study! (2) Are correspondence courses offered for teachers of science and mathematics! (3) Are offcampus extension courses offered for teachers in these areas! (4) Is other assistance offered to high school teachers!



A total of 727 replies were received. From them, Walley and Mayor learned the following facts:

82 colleges offered subject matter graduate courses for teachers, some of the courses having no prerequisites.

679 offered no correspondence courses in science or mathematics.

28 offered correspondence courses in mathematics and 66 in some branch of science.

39 offered correspondence courses in professional education.

15 offered extension courses in astronomy, \$2 in biology, 30 in botany, 23 in chemistry, 37 in geology, 113 in mathematics, 31 in physics, 15 in physiology, 28 in boology, and 30 in "other" fields.

198 offered extension courses in professional education.

495 offered no extension courses.

These 495 colleges offered teachers other assistance, however, as follows:

Career guidance and help in classroom activities-419.

Lecture series open to inservice teachers-90.

Representatives at inservice conferences-165.

Scholarships 99.

Summer institutes—155.

Workshops-182.

Studies Related to Science Personnel

Ash (C 2) investigated the personality differences between college students majoring in the natural sciences and those majoring in the social sciences. He used the *Unkformia Test of Personality* with which to collect the desired data. Through the use of correlation techniques, he discovered that there were no statistically significant differences between the two groups as to (1) morals, (2) social adjustment, (8) family relations, (4) smotionality, or (5) economic conservatism.

· Mary Marie

Keller (C 16) assembled a large sample of answers to questionnaires on sex and related these to certain social and physical aspects of personality. She found that misinformation about sex is widespread among college students and recommended (1) teacher education in nondirective techniques as one base for establishing initial permissiveness, (2) extension of programs of sex education into adult groups, and (3) examination of the misinformation and misconceptions about sex from the anthropological and acciological viewpoints.



MacCurdy (C 19) developed a scientific aptitude inventory by using a jury of experts. He then tested the validity of the Westing house Science Talent Search as a basis for selecting potential scientific manpower replacements. Although the author did not attest the validity of the aptitude inventory, he did report the production of a self-administered test with directions for scoring and for interpreting results.

South

Hoyt, Ellsworth, and Katz (C 15) correlated grades in engineering physics with grades in the total engineering curriculum. They sought to identify the kinds of students enrolling in engineering physics, the extent to which performance could be predicted, and the prognostic value of such a course. The analysis, covering 439 students enrolled for 5 semesters, involved statistical computations, grades, scholastic aptitude scores, and educational histories.

Following are findings from the study:

- On aptitude tests, students in a beginning course in engineering physics made substantially better scores than the average freshman.
- 2. The scholastic aptitude tests did not adequately predict achievement in physics or engineering.
- 3. A good predictor of final course grades could be the first three quiz scores (a correlation of 0.88 was found).
- 4. Course grades bore a close relationship to overall grade-point averages (a correlation of 0.88).
- 5. Course achievement was closely related to the possibility of graduation.

som Projekt for a filmande, og på det gjende for a sikke de gjelle Vilja

and he plant and and in the company of the period of the company o

Section II. Interpretations and Recommendations

THE COMMITTEE of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching, which provided the basic material from which this report has been assembled, surveyed all issues, July 1956 to July 1957, of approximately 50 journals that from time to time have published reports of research in the field of science education. In addition, each committee reviewed the abstracts of unpublished studies in science education collected annually by the U.S. Office of Education from more than 900 institutions where studies in this field have previously been done.

The Vertical Colors of the Bogan and Cafe try the death

Despite the fact that the search was as meticulous and inclusive as possible, it is probable that all studies in science education for the year involved were not located. Both the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and the U.S. Office of Education are committed to the policy of improving this service by profiting from

the work of previous committees.

The interpretations, recommendations, and general considerations set forth in this section are those of the chairman of the three levels—elementary, secondary, and college—together with those of the two general chairmen, one representing the association and the other the U.S. Office of Education. Thus, to some degree the material in this section may reflect the points of view and personal biases of this group, although every possible safeguard has been used to insure maximum objectivity. For any errors of judgment or misinterpretation, the general chairmen accept full responsibility.

In the year under review, the difference in number between the studies reviewed and those selected for report was greater than in any previous year. Because of this it seems appropriate to list once

again the criteria applied in the final selection of a study.

These criteria were drawn up by a committee of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and later adopted by vote of its members. A copy of the criteria is in the hands of each committee member with full instructions as to its use. Although the

personal judgments of the various committee members must of necessity enter into the final application of the criteria, they do operate to produce some degree of objectivity.

What Constitutes a Research Investigation in Science Education?

The Overall Committee on Research of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching presents the following set of criteria for identifying research investigations in the teaching of science :

In order to be classed as a research investigation, a study must satisfy the criteria in one of three categories: A. Experimental studies. Analytic studies. C. Synthetic studies.

A. Experimental studies include comparisons of learning under different methods or conditions of teaching and all other investigations that involve pupils in one or more types of learning situations. They are characterized generally by the following steps or techniques:

- 1. A statement of a carefully and specifically defined and delimited problem.
- 2. A thorough study of the literature appertaining to the problem, for the purpose of determining the need for the study and its possible contribution.
- 3. The development and use of an appropriate experimental design.
- 4. The collection of data and their treatment by appropriate statistical techniques.
- 5. A presentation of the findings and of the conclusions that seem justified by them.
- B. Analytical studies are systematic attempts to determine from published mainrials, cooperating teachers, field studies, and other sources such factors as the aims that govern or that should govern the tasebbag, subject-matter elements that are taught, the relative importance of topics, facilities needed for teaching, and the like. Analytical studies are characterized severally by the following steps or techniques:
 - 1. A statement of a carefully and specifically defined and delimited
 - 2. A thorough study of the literature appertaining to the problem, for the purpose of determining the need for the study and its possible contribution.
 - 3. A selection or invention of a technique appropriate to the profilem and also one that provides means by which the validity and the reliability of analysis may be determined and maintained
 - 4. A presentation of the findings and of the conclusions that seem justified by them.
- C. Symilactic studies are investigations in which various curricular me terials, resource see data, instructional suggestions, references, aids to tea ing, and the like, are brought together into some unified pattern so its be helpful in an educational situation. Synthetic studies are characterized generally by the following steps or techniques: THE TOUR SELECTION OF THE WAY THE



Education, vol. 87, No. 1, Pebruary 1959.

- I. A statement of a carefully and clearly defined need or objective.
- The development of criteria for maintaining selectivity in the use of materials and the consistent use of the criteria in thorough studies of materials appertaining to the need or objective.
- 3. The development of a practical pattern or technique for organizing the materials that met the criteria.
- The preparation of a substantial publication that summarizes the results of the studies.

It is obvious that the foregoing types, or categories, of research are not mutually exclusive in all respects. Analysis often epters into studies that are primarily experimental. Certain types of synthesis may appropriately be a part of an analytical or a curricular study. Leaders in science education should attempt to judge the merit of each study that is completed and to report to the Office of Education on their prepared forms all studies that qualify as research under one of the three categories. Attempts should also be made to report all other studies that although not readily classifiable, are nevertheless thorough, substantial, and definitely constructive.

Guybert P. Cahoon Francis D. Curtis, Chairman. Charlotte Grant Betty Lockwood Wheeler

Elementary Level

In attempting a critical assessment of the research in elementary science reported for the year 1956-57, one should first note that two important documents bearing on this subject have been produced in recent years. The first of these is entitled What Research Says About Science in the Elementary School² and the second, Elementary School Science: Research, Theory and Practice.³

Elementary science has been recognized as a part of the school curriculum for more than 100 years. Before 1925 most of the emphasis was on nature study. Beginning in the mid-1920's with the pioneer research of Craig, there has been increasing emphasis on a type of elementary science program which more nearly meets the needs of young people than was true of the traditional nature study.

With the growing acceptance of a point of view which recognized that the interpretation of the physical environment is a natural facet of the development of young children, it became more and more apparent that much research was needed to establish a sound basis for



By Gerald S. Craig. Washington: National Education Association, Department of Classroom Teachers, 1957.

^{*}By Maxine Dunfee and Julian Greenlee. Washington: National Education Association, Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 1957.

the elementary science program. In the early years of this movement many experiments were conducted, but very few were supported by adequate research data.

As the movement gained momentum and as more school districts began to put elementary science into the curriculums, it became apparent that reach was needed in such areas as (1) the purposes of elementary science; (2) the nature of the elementary science curriculum, (3) types of learning experiences in elementary science, (4) teaching materials and aids in elementary science, and (5) teacher education as related to elementary science. These areas supply a valuable base for assessing the current research in elementary science.

Over the years there has been an ever-increasing volume of studies devoted to most of the areas named above. Among these many have made significant contributions and a relatively few stand out as land-mark studies. Between 1940 and 1950 there was a marked increase in the number of research studies in elementary science.

Since 1950, the interest in this area has increased a hundredfold and there has probably been more research done than in the preceding 100 years. Over the past decade much of the reported research has been directed toward (1) curriculum content and instructional techniques and (2) teacher education as it relates to elementary science.

The recent acceleration of interest and concern for science in the schools of America has been directed as much to the elementary as to the secondary level. Schools in increasing numbers are providing more time for elementary science as well as improved courses. School administrators, consultants as well as lay folk, are showing a quickened interest in the science program, and many State and local school systems are engaged in revisions of their courses of study.

The current activity in the revision of science offerings and content in the secondary school is creating a need for reevaluation of the instructional materials in the elementary school. The need for more specialized scientists has created a demand for better provisions for the pupil who is talented in science. This problem has sharp implications for the elementary science program as well as for research, since it has been fairly well established that young people who select scientific careers get their interests early, many of them in the last years of the elementary school.

Another factor which should influence the quality and quantity of research in elementary science is the increasing need for more science in the day-to-day lives of those who are not science specialists. As the influence of science and technology increases, the demands for more and better science both in the elementary and secondary schools will increase.



Thus it would seem reasonable to add to the listing of areas of needed research in elementary science suggested above such other areas as the following:

- 1. Barly identification of pupils having science talent.
- 2. Provision for the talented pupil.
- 3. Development of interest in science.
- 4. Development of abilities in critical thinking through elementary science.
- 5. Development of desirable attitudes.

In the area of elementary science research for 1955-56, 19 studies were reported for analysis. Seven of these were classified as curriculum studies, 9 as learning studies, and 3 as teacher-education studies. The present report includes only 8 studies selected from the total of 19 identified by the reviewing committee. Three of these are classified as curriculum studies, three as learning studies, and two as teacher-education studies.

A careful examination of the total 27 studies reported in this and the previous analysis reveals only a few measuring up to the critical need for research in elementary science. Among them would be those studies devoted to science principles, to the development of problem-solving abilities, and to some aspects of teacher education.

On the other hand, studies related to textbooks and supplementary references, science in girls' camps, outdoor education, courses of study and the like, while perhaps of some limited local importance, can lardly be said to contribute much toward the long-range improvement of the elementary science program.

In the current analysis the curriculum studies of Cuno (E 1), Pella and Solberg (E 4), Piltz (E 6), and Simon (E 8) appear to be worthwhile contributions to the literature. This is especially true of the last two, which seek some evidence for the feasibility of introducing the concepts of atomic energy and space travel into the elementary curriculum.

Each of the three learning studies appears to have been directed toward basic issues in the field of elementary science: Munter's (E 5) toward children's thinking, Garvey's (E 2) toward the stability of science interests, and Johnson's (E 3) toward ascertainment of the degree of reaching objectives. It should be pointed out, however, that in the first two studies the samples were so limited as to make the general application of the findings somewhat questionable.

It would appear from this analysis that, except in a few cases, there is a need for those who are in a position to direct research in elementary science to set higher standards for the following aspects of the research: (1) The nature of the problems to be investigated, (2)



the statistical design of the studies, and (3) the rigor with which the studies are carried out.

Secondary Level

The review committee brought together a total of 51 studies dealing with or related to some aspect of school science on the secondary level. Although this figure represents a considerable increase over the number of investigations considered for review last year, it is doubtful whether the increase represents a real expansion of research activity. A considerable number of studies reviewed this year were completed in the summer of 1956 before August 1; that is, before the beginning of the period currently under discussion.

Of the total studies reviewed, only 25 are included in the current report. Twenty-six studies—51 percent of the total—were judged by the committee to be unsuited in relation to the established criteria. Eleven of these were rejected because they did not come within the limits of research as defined. The majority of rejects, however, were discarded because the studies violated various requirements of sound research. Some of them lacked orderly plans, either for securing data or for determining their validity. Some of them, in other respects sound, presented conclusions which were overstatements of the actual findings. Other studies in this group were eliminated for having attempted to prove the obvious or for having utilized selected data to prove a position long since established.

The number of investigations by academic professionals, that is, science educators employed in academic institutions, about equaled those by degree candidates. Those two categories of investigators account for nearly all the research considered.

The committee derived its material from chiefly two sources: three issues of Science Education and the abstracts sent to the U.S. Office of Education. Only eight research reports were found in other journals, and only one of these was accepted for review. Three additional studies were reported in research bulletins of boards of education.

According to the three broad classifications of research recognized by the association, the 18 studies described in the current review may be grouped as fellows: 8 experimental, 14 analytical, and 1 synthetic. The 7 survey-type studies listed at the end of the review fall, of course, in the analytical category. These status studies, dealing with enrollments, course offerings, and teacher loads, represent the dominant investigative interest during the period under review.



Regarding its review activities this year, the committee wishes to make the following observations:

- For excellence in dealing with one or more (in some cases, all) of the following aspects of craftsmanship in educational research—choosing a significant problem, validating data, using statistical analysis, and reporting—the studies of these investigators are noteworthy: Anderson, Page, and Smith; Mallinson; Simendinger; Smith and Anderson; Victor; and Wise.
- Insofar as the studies reflect the science courses which our secondary schools actually offered during 1956-57, one can say that surprisingly little curriculum experimentation was attempted throughout the Nation.
- 3. Many studies are being completed which merely duplicate the work of former investigators. Some of the duplicates appear to be little more than exercises in research technique rather than serious attempts to add to our fund of information about science education.
- 4. If candidates for the degree in M.S., M.A., and M. Ed. are required to conduct research and write theses for their degrees, then their institutions have a responsibility to help them learn the methods of scholarly investigation and reporting.
- 5. Science educators speak with confidence in recommending problem solving as a desirable teaching objective. However, experimental psychologists have encountered difficulty in identifying the many ramifications in the complex of mental activities and emotions involved in problem solving. We in science education must use extreme care in conducting research on problem solving in view of the complexity which has been recognized by experimental psychologists in dealing with this area.

College Level

Even though the National Association for Research in Science Teaching and both reviewing committees have defined and categorized science education research, an overview of the college level research reported in this bulletin indicates that further efforts in this direction are necessary. It must be granted, however, that college-level studies in this area do not readily lend themselves to orderly schemes of classification.

In the earlier years there was an intense fervor among such men as Curtis, Downing, Powers, Craig, Pieper, and other forward-looking science educators for systematic teacher-education research in the areas of methodology, learning theory, curriculum, and the like. These men gave systematic attention to procedures, concept and principles formation, the social implications of science, problem-solving techniques, and they even promoted the formation of bureaus and centers for research in science education. They wrote many convincing



articles on the advantages and importance of research activity, both to the field and to the individual investigator. Although some of their techniques, judged by present-day standards, may appear a little bewildering, these researches exhibited a great eagerness to invent new methods and designs. Tests, scales, experiments, statistical methods, and the like were then so new that they often assumed the major role in investigations rather than a minor role as useful tools, aids, or devices.

Much of the research reviewed for possible inclusion in this analysis does not represent improvement over those earlier efforts. There is too little awareness of the need for research involving the observation of groups as groups, their structure, interaction, and dynamics; or of the need for research in the elements of observable behavior or appropriate methods of analysis of group data.

Review of the pertinent literature pointing to the need for an investigation is often inadequately done, if at all. Library research, methods of citation, and recognition of the frontier studies are all too frequently of a casual nature and inadequate scope. The case study, as a method, especially in an anthropological frame of reference, is overlooked or absent. Also overlooked or absent is recognition of new techniques for analyzing data.

There is a conspicuous absence of new experimental designs, and of progressive elimination of the person-to-person matching techniques as a significant factor. There is too little research based on the assumption that research may be more effective if conducted by those responsible for putting it into action. There is great need for more emphasis, not only on what people learn but also on how they learn; for emphasis on the learner rather than on teacher techniques; for more emphasis on process and less on product and things; for greater emphasis on group research, cooperation in planning and evaluation, and unity rather than diffusion. The psychologist, statistician, and science educator must learn to work together more closely, and in a more coordinated fashion.

In a recent review of college level research in science education covering the past 20 years, Miles and Van Deventer say the following:

Most of the research in the teaching of college science has been for introductory courses—these studies have focused on instruction by television; the objectives of science teaching including fundamental subject matter principles, scientific methodology, and scientific attitudes; the retention of learning; sequent courses; laboratory; status, content and trends; and competencies desirable for instructors.



⁴ Miles, Vaden C. and Van Deventer, William C. Sessearch in Teaching College Science, College and University Sutletin, vol. 21, No. 8, March 1989.

General Considerations

There appears to be considerable evidence to support the contention that in general the number of investigations in science education has been increasing over the past few years; yet for the past 2 years the number selected for this annual survey has decreased in every category. In 1955-56, 19 studies were reported in elementary science, 22 in secondary science, and 40 in college science. This made a total of 81 studies. The present report contains 8 studies for the elementary level, 18 for the secondary (in addition, 7 surveys were listed) and 28 for the college, making a total of 54.

The personnel concerned with the selection and evaluation of these studies are fully awars of the shortcomings inherent in the process used and, moreover, feel that the criteria cited earlier in this report may not be the best that could have been used. Granting all of the above, however, it is still difficult to understand why there should be such a sharp decline in studies reported on each level at a time when an increasing number of research studies is being conducted.

The need for good research studies in science education has never been more critical than at present, when so many organizations and agencies involved in some aspect of long-range improvement plans are seeking guidance from research findings. The pioneer researches of men like Powers, Craig, Downing, Cuttis, and others have been mentioned earlier in this bulletin. These men were deeply concerned with research on some of the broad and unresolved issues of their day. They carried on this research as a part of their academic responsibilities.

When one considers the large number of outstanding leaders in science education today who are qualified to do research, as compared with the number during the time when the men named above were active, it becomes apparent that there has been a sharp decrease in research studies from this source. An examination of the 54 studies analyzed in this bulletin will reveal that most of the studies have been done either by classroom teachers or by students writing theses. Few have been done by professors of science education.

Most of the studies reported appear to have been done as partial fulfillment for advanced degrees. No doubt this accounts for much of the fragmentary character of the research and for its narrow local interest and limited application.

The comments above are not to be taken as criticism of such studies. Rather, more of them should be encouraged, for they do make contributions to the solution of many local problems. It is also quite probable that the persons conducting such studies will, through their expe-



rience, be better qualified and will be stimulated to attack some of the broader problems that confront science teaching.

At a time when science and technology are becoming dominant factors in the culture, there is need that science teaching should realize its fullest potentials. And yet there is an overwhelming body of evidence to indicate that this is not now true. Millions of people are influenced by superstition and unfounded belief. Other millions are preyed upon by charlatans who seek to take advantage of the low level of scientific literacy of the public mind. Somehow science education must break through this barrier and become more functional in the lives of people. We must find the reasons why science education does not now achieve more of the outcomes which it seeks. And once we find the causes, we will need to find ways to alleviate the conditions and make the necessary improvements.

This is only one area of science education, that of learning, where many deeply involved issues lie. Others could be mentioned which are of equal or greater importance. These pose the broad and significant problems for research in this field which call for the best talent that can be found in science and allied areas. The broad unresolved issues must be isolated, the cluster of problems requiring solutions must be defined, and the hypotheses must be stated and tested.

Only when these steps have been taken will researchers in science education be in a position to conduct studies which have significance for the steady improvement needed over the next decade.

Recommendations

Based on this analysis of the current research in science teaching and on the general considerations discussed above, the following recommendations are made by the Committee:

- That those responsible for directing research in science education attempt to focus on studies which are most likely to result in significant findings with broad implications.
- That those responsible for directing research in science education hold to high standards in the statistical design, in the conduct of the studies, and in the interpretation of the research data.
- That immediate steps be taken to define the major unresolved issues in science teaching.
- That, once these major unresolved issues are defined, they be followed by a definition of clusters of problems which must be solved in order to resolve the issues.
- 5. That hypotheses be proposed for testing in the solution of the problems.
- That all available research in science education be assembled and abstracted for the years following the last abstract (1989).



- 7. That available research bearing on the unresolved issues in science education be evaluated and that a bibliography be compiled under headings related to these issues.
- 8. That a comprehensive plan for coordinated research in science education be made, adopted, and put into operation throughout the country.
- 9. That specially designated centers for research on given issues be set up at several universities and appropriate lines of communication among them be established through a central clearing-house agency.
- 10. That able university scholars in the field of science education engage, in greater number than at present, in broad research studies as a part of their academic responsibilities.

Section III. Bibliographies

Elementary School Level

- 1. Cuno, Ann. Guide for Teaching Science in Primary Grades. (Unpublished master's thesis, University of California, 1956.)
- GARVEY, A. MADELEINE. An Investigation To Determine the Stability of Science Interests of Five Hundred Fifth-Grade Children in the City of Providence, Rhode Island. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Rhode Island, 1956.)
- 3. Johnston, Jane. The Relative Achievement of the Objectives of Elementary School Science in a Representative Sampling of Minnesota Schools. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota, 1954.)
- 4. Pella, Milton O. and Solbebo, Else M. What a Fifth Grade Learns About Atomic Energy. School Science and Mathematics, 56: 719-724, December 1956.
- 5. MUNTER, LEONARD. Written Responses to Cause-Effect Questions in the Natural Sciences by Children in Grades 3-6. (Unpublished master's thesis, University of California, 1955.)
- 8. Pilitz, Albert. Teacher-Recognized Difficulties Encountered in the Teaching of Science in the Elementary Schools of Florida. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Florida, 1954.)
- RICHARDSON, EVAN C. The Need of In-Service Consultation Assistance in Upgrading the Science Contribution to Elementary Objectives. Newark, N.J.: State Teachers College, 1956.
- Simon, Alfred. Space Travel—A Unit of Science Study for the Elementary School. (Unpublished master's thesis, University of Southern California, 1956.)

Secondary School Level

 Anderson, Kenneth E., Page, Tate C., and Smith, Herbert A. A Study of the Variability of Exceptional High School Seniors in Science and Other Academic Areas. Lawrence: University of Kansas, 1957.



- 2. Blanc, Sam S. A Topical Analysis of High School Biology Textbooks. Science Education, 41: 205-209, April 1957.
- Deloach, Will S. and Boysworth, Willa. Turnover of High School Chemistry Teachers, Alabama 1942-53. Science Education, 41: 200-201, April 1957.
- 4. EASTER, RONALD R. Effectiveness of Using Biographical Sketches in the Teaching of High School Chemistry. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Iowa State College, 1956.)
- 5. Gorherme, Harvey J. Jr. Construction and Validation of a Film Slide Test to Measure Ability to Apply Scientific Method in a Selected Area of High School Physics. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh, 1956.)
- 6. Hibbs, Clyde W. An Analysis of the Development and Use of Outdoor Laboratories in Teaching Conservation in Public Schools. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan, 1956.)
- 7. LOCKWOOD, J. BRYCE. The Mathematical Processes Needed in Learning High School Chemistry and High School Physics (Unpublished master's thesis, Western Michigan College, 1957.)
- 8. MALLINSON, JACQUELINE B. The Relative Difficulties of Different Types of Items on Tests for High School Science. Kalamazoo: Western Michigan College, 1957.
- RICHTER, MARION C. R. Drawing and Learning in Biology: The Relationship Between Pupils' Drawings of Visual Aids and Their Learning in Biology. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)
- ROGESS, WILLIAM P. A Determination of the Prevalence of Certain Important General Science Misconceptions Among Ninth-Grade and Tenth-Grade School Children. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Boston University, 1956.)
- Schenberg, Samuel. The Status of Science Teaching Manpower in New York City. Science Education, 41: 119-125, March 1957.
- 12. Scott, John D. A Comparison of Two Methods of Teaching Tenth-Grade General Science. (Unpublished master's thesis, Tennessee Agricultural and Industrial State University, 1957.)
- SHEPLES, WARREN D. A Study of Scholastic Achievement in Secondary School Science in Relation to Pupil's Relative Preference for the Subject. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, School of Education, University of Pittsburgh, 1956.)
- 14. SIMENDINGER, ELIZABETH A. The Ability to Identify and Evaluate Assumptions in Eighth-Grade General Science. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, New York University, 1955.)
- SMELTZ, JOHN R. Retention of Learnings in High School Chemistry. The Science Teacher, 23: 285 and 305, October 1956.
- 16. SMITH, HERRER A. and ANDERSON, KENNETH E. An Inquiry Into Some Possible Learning Differentials as a Result of the Use of Sound Motion Pictures in High School Biology. Lawrence: University of Kansas, 1957.
- 17. VICTOR, EDWARD. The Converted Science Teacher. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, 1957.)



 Wise, Harold E. A Comparison of the Effectiveness of Courses at Three Levels of Instruction in Developing Understandings of Selected Principles of Physics. Science Education, 41: 418-424, December 1957.

College Level

- ADAMS, NORVAL E. Status of Science Instruction. School Science and Mathematics, 56: 747-756, December 1956.
- 2 Ash, Curtis. Personality Differences Between Students Majoring in the Natural Sciences and in the Social Sciences. (Unpublished master's thesis, Atlanta University, 1956.)
- 3. BAINTER, MONICA EVELYN. A Study of the Outcomes of Two Types of Laboratory Techniques Used in a Course in College General Physics for Students Planning to be Teachers in the Elementary Grades. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin, no date.)
- BLACKSHEAR, JOHN SOLOMON. The Relative Effectiveness of Two Methods of Teaching Biology. (Unpublished master's thesis, Atlanta University, 1956.)
- BLISS, HORACE H. Preparation and Certification of High School Teachers of Science: A Survey of Opinion of College Teachers of Science. (Paper read before the Oklahoma Academy of Science, The University of Oklahoma, Dec. 1, 1956.)
- 6. Brown, Katheryn Verneatha Middleton. A Study of Undegraduate Professional Education of Elementary School Teachers with Special Emphasis on the Preparation for Teaching Science in the Elementary Schools of Mitchell County, Georgia, 1954–1955. (Unpublished master's thesis, Atlanta University, 1956.)
- BRYANT, VERA REGULUS. The Effectiveness of Science Teaching in Elementary Schools. (Unpublished Master's thesis, Atlanta University, 1956.)
- CARLIN, JOHN J. Do Courses in Chemistry and Physics at the High School Level Contribute to Success in Beginning College Chemistry? Journal of Chemical Education, 34: 25-26, January 1957.
- COMBS, JOHN HENNIS. A Comparative Study of the Effect of Certain Curriculum Patterns on Student Achievement in Biology. (Unpublished master's thesis, Atlanta University, 1956.)
- CROOKS, KENNETH B. M. Reading and Science Instruction. The American Biology Teacher, 19:135-143, May 1957.
- 11. FLEER, JAMES BURTON. General Chemistry for Prospective Teachers of Physical Science in High School. (Unpublished dostoral dissertation, Florida State University, 1956.)
- 12. GAWLEY, IBWIN H., JR. Criteria For a General Methods Course in Science Education for New Jersey Secondary School Science Teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)
- Henninga, George. The Ecological Basis of Comservation: With An Analysis of Teaching Procedures. (Unpublished doctoral project, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)



ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH IN TEACHING SCIENCE

- HILTON, DAVID A. A Technique for the Selection of Laboratory Experiments
 for a College General Education Physical Science Course. (Unpublished
 doctoral dissertation, Wayne State University, 1956.)
- 15. HOTT, DONALD, ELLSWORTH, LOUIS O. and KATS, ROBERT. Correlation between Grades in Engineering Physics and Performance in Engineering Curricula. American Journal of Physics, 24: 605-610, December 1956.
- 16. Keller, Dolores Elaine. The Relationship Between Misinformation About Sex Manifested in a Group of College Students and Certain Social and Physical Aspects of Personality. Dissertation Abstracts, XVI: 12, University of Michigan, 1956.
- 17. KRUGLAK, HAYM. What Kind of Cooperation with Colleges Do High School Physics Teachers Want? Kalamazoo: Western Michigan College, 1958.
- 18. Lahti, Arnold M. The Efficiency of the Physical Science Laboratory in Promoting a General Education Objective. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota, 1955.)
- 19. MACCURDY, ROBERT I). Scientific Aptitude Inventory. University of Florida (no date).
- McIntosu, J. Paul. Opinions and Attitudes of National Science Foundation Program Participants. (Unpublished master's thesis, Oklahoma State University of Agriculture and Applied Science, 1957.)
- 21. MENDENHALL, THOMAS S. The Growth of Ideas Leading to the Present Day Concept of the Atom. (Unpublished doctoral project, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)
- PREGGER, FRED T. Criteria for a Special Methods Course in Physical Science Education for New Jersey Secondary School Science Teachers. (Unpublished doctoral project, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)
- 23. Sosinsky, Jach. A Comparison of an Integrated Course in General Chemistry and Qualitative Analysis of One-Year Duration with Separate Courses in General Chemistry and Qualitative Analysis in a School of Pharmacy. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, New York University, 1956.)
- 24. SPEAK, WILLIAM A. The Academic Science Training of Kansas Secondary Teachers of Biology in Relation to Their Expressed Needs. (Unpublished master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Pittsburg, 1956.)
- 25. STOLLBERG, ROBERT. Some Observations Concerning the Education of Science Teachers. San Francisco State College, 1956. (Mimeograph.)
- SUTMAN, FRANK X. Criteria for a Special Methods Course in Biological Science Education for New Jersey Secondary School Science Teachers. (Unpublished doctoral project, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1956.)
- Syrocki, B. John. Consideration in Selecting, Developing, and Validating Laboratory Experience Units in General Biology for Prospective Elementary Teachers. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation, North Texas State College, 1956.)
- 28. WALLER, I. E., and MAYOR, JOHN R. Courses for Science and Mathematics Teachers. The Scientific Monthly, 83:217-218, October 1956.

